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Raleigh Little Theatre/Amphitheatre/Rose Garden

9.(c.) Justification for Land to be Designated

The 6.66 acres of land included in this application represent al
of the area of the original Little Theatre/Amphitheatre/Rose
Garden conplex, as it was developed in the late 1930s. It has
remai ned continuously in City ownership, serving the sane
functions, since that period. Designed as a nulti-part, single
entity, it should be preserved entire.

9.(d.) Architectural Description and Significance

The Raleigh Little Theatre, Amphitheatre and Rose Garden occupy a
6.66 acre tract of land in a horseshoe formed by pogue and
Gardner Streets in west Raleigh. Landscaping during construction
reinforced a natural depression, creating an oval bow about two
hundred yards long. At the south end of the tract is an arc-
shaﬁed anphitheatre with stage, while the north end is |andscaped
with mature trees. The Raleigh Little Theatre is perched on the
rimof the bow at its east side. On the floor of the bow is
t he Rose Garden.

The anphitheatre at the south end, which seats approximtely
3,000, consists of a series of sem-circular terraces forned by
| ow, random ashlar stone walls with concrete copings that serve
as seats. Between the arcs of seating are grass strip aisles.
At the bottomof the anPhitheatre s a raised, grassed stage
formed by arched walls of random ashlar stonework, in front of
which is a depressed orchestra pit. At either end, the pit
contains circular stone and concrete fountains, no |onger
wor ki ng.  Flanking the stage on either side are screening walls,
and at both sides of stage are small, hipped-roofed stone
dressing room buil di ngs. A backdrop for the stage is provided
by large evergreen shrubs and evergreen trees. Encircling the
entire anphitheatre are random ashlar masonry walls wth concrete
copi ngs.

On the floor of the conplex, the Rose Garden forms a |arge oval,
the north end of which is a sem-circular pergola of random
ashl ar stone col utms and wooden crosspi eces, covered with a white
clinbing rose. At the south end is a gable-roofed, ashlar stone
and frame shelter open on the sides. Bet ween these two
structures are a series of rose beds grouped around a centra

}amn. At the north end of the lawn is a small, circular concrete
ount ai n.

Adj oi ning the
I nterspersed w
Large trees, a
of the bow .

rose garden on three sides are |awn areas
th trees of a considerable variety of species.
m x of hard and softwoods, cover the steep slopes



The original portion of the Raleigh Little Theatre building is
conmposed of two crisp, painted brick rectangles: the |ower, front
one containing the lobby and auditorium the taller rectangle
containing the stage and fly gallery. Both portions of the
theatre are set on high, random ashl ar foundations on the
downhi || side, and the plaza in front of the theatre is framed
with | ow, random ashlar stone walls. At the south end, the
building's symmetrically-arranged facade contains a recessed,
two-story entrance porch with two square brick piers. The only
applied ornament on the facade is an inset concrete plaque,
centered over the entrance, which depicts nasks of conedy and
tragedy. The side elevations of the original auditorium have
recessed, two-story panels of brickwork.

As originally constructed, the theatre seated 299 in a very
spartan interior. During 1966 a brick addition was nade to the
rear of the original theatre to acconodate a scene shop and
dressing roonms, while the auditorium and |obby, as well as the
basenent area of the existing building, were al so remodelled. (1)

The Gaddy- Goodwi n Teaching Theatre constructed at the rear of
the existing theatre in 1988-89 echoes the design of the
ori?inal bui I ding, while nore than doubling it in size. The new
building, also of painted brick, but with textured split block
foundation walls, consists of a rectangular auditorium section
W th recessed panels on the side walls, and a lobby/office space
conposed of a series of receeding cubes. projecting from the
nort hwest corner of the lobby is a large, concrete deck supported
on split block pillars.

As part of the 1988-89 work, an addition was also made to the
exit on the northeast corner of the main theatre.

The Raleigh Little Theatre/amphitheatre/Rose Garden design
concept was the work of the capital's nost acconplished architect
of the period, WIIliam Henley Deitrick. A native of panville,
Virginia, Deitrick (1895-1974) noved to Raleigh in 1924 after
studying at \Wake Forest and Colunbia University. In the course
of a career of over fifty years, he designed nore than 125 public
school buildings, 24 state and federal government buildings, as
wel | as numerous churches, residences, commercial and other
bui l dings. H's best known Ral eigh works include Broughton H gh
School (1929), the conversion of the Raleigh Water Tower to
architectural offices (1938), and the conpletion of the design of
Dorton Arena in 1951 follow ng the death of Matthew Nowicki. The
latter building received the American |Institute of Architects
First Honor Award, and the Engineering Gold Medal of the
Architectural League of New York. The AIA also elected Deitrick
a Fellowin 1955.(2)

While from surviving sketches it appears that Deitrick was
responsi ble for the overall design of the entire site, including
pl acement of the anphitheatre, pergola and theatre, construction
drawi ngs for the theatre building were prepared by Raleigh
architect Thad Hurd when Deitrick becanme unavailable to conplete



his prelim nary designs. Deitrick's initial sketch for the
theatre itself shows an art deco/art moderne style facade, nuch
| i ke conventional novie theatres of the period.(3) The clean

classical lines of the theatre as built are the work of gurd, and
represent one of the earliest |ocal exanples of the stripped-down
modern classical style used for public buildings in the l|ate
1930s through the early 1950s.

The Little Theatre/amphitheatre/Rose Garden conplex is arguabl
the city’s best planned, best. integrated and best preserved par
space. while the city has older park areas, nobst notably the
squares of the original city plan, and pullen Park, these spaces
either had no original |andscape plan, or have been subjected to
a series of redevel opnents. the pre-World War 11 parks, only
the Little Theatre/ampnitheatre/Rose Garden conbines a workabl e
plan with consistent citizen involvenment in its preservation.

9.ie.) Hi storical Significance

The Little Theatre/Amphitheatre/Rose Garden complex is
historically significant for its association with the Wrks
Progress Adm nistration in North Carolina, a program which
provi ded enpl oyment for |arge nunbers of workers during the
Depression, while producing many inportant public facilities.
The theatre itself is associated with the nore than fifty year
history of Raleigh’s, and one of the state’s, forenpst amateur
drama groups.

H storical Background

During the | ate nineteenth and early twentieth centuries the
state fair grounds were |ocated on a |arge tract east of
Hi | | sborough Street across fromwhat is now North Carolina State
Uni versity. When a new fair site was established in the early
1920s, the North Carolina A?ricultural Society laid out a
subdivision on the old site, calling it Fairmont.(4) A 6.66 acre
portion of the tract, annunt[n% to more than fifty lots, was
Purchased by the Gty of Raleigh in 1927.(5) These lots were
ocated in and adjacent to a natural anphitheatre used as a
racetrack by the fair. 1In 1939 the area was described as "an
unsightly clay pit that was a tangle of red nud and weeds..."(6)

The Raleigh Little Theatre was organized in 1936 as an outgrowth
of the Works Progress Administration’s Federal Theatre Project.
By the late 1930s it was in need of a permanent hone. Ms. Louis
V. (cantey Venable) Sutton pushed a plan to construct a new
theatre building wth adjacent anphitheatre and gardens on the
old racetrack site. Ms. Sutton was able to, secure assurances
from the mayor that the city-owned land could be used for this
purpose, as well as prelimnary approval from WPA officials for
the project. An initial design for the theatre and garden
compl ex was donated by Ralergh architect WIliam Henly
Dietrick.(7) Landscape architect R J. Pearse designed the
anphi theatre and adjacent |andscaping, and when Deitrick proved
too busy to prepare working drawings for the theatre, architect



Thad Hurd of the building commttee carried out the necessary
desi gn work.(8)

The initial stages of the project noved fairly rapidly. Formnal
approval was granted by WPA officials in Washi ngton on August 20,
1938, with a budget of $97,120.10 (later increased to $129, 056).
Wrk was begun by the WPA under City Engineer C L. Barnhardt on
Cctober 13, 1938 and during that wnter the ground was cleared
and | andscapi ng begun. Construction of the dressing rooms, stage
and seats of the anphitheatre, and of the sunken gardens behind
them began in the spring of 1939, and were partly conplete when
used for the first time on June 20, 1939.(9)

Groundbreaking for the Little Theatre was held in January of
1939, the foundations finished in the sumer of 1939, and work
started on the walls in pecember.(10) A lack of enthusiasm on
the part of Durham WPA officials for the theatre building slowed
Its construction, but constant pressure from Ms. Sutton and
| ocal officials pushed completion through in early fall,
1940.(11)

A newspaper article in January, 1939 quoted Ms. Gover DI,
chairman of the planting conmttee, as saying that State College
foresters were conbing Wake County woodl ands for native trees to
fill in the biggest spots in an arboretumdesigned by r. J.
Pearse for the north end of the bow. Local nurseries and garden
clubs were solicited for donations of azaleas, roses and
bulbs.(12) Raleigh merchants al so donated |umber, brick, stone
and ot her equi pment for the complex.(13) Chapel Hi Il Playwi ght
Paul Green provided the cast concrete plaque of conmedy and
tragedy sculpted by local artist James McLean that was placed
over the front entrance.(1l4)

Dedi cation ceremonies for the Raleigh Little Theatre, then
referred to as the "brama Center," were held on September 13,
1940, and included addresses by Governor Clyde Hooey and Ral eigh
Mayor Graham Andrews.(15)

Fromits initial production of "OQutward Bound" in 1940, the
Raleigh Little Theatre has mounted an uninterrupted series of
plays and nusicals in the Pogue Street facility. One of the
state’s ol dest and nost successful amateur theatre organizations,
It has devel oped special programs for children; classes in
acting, creative dramatics and oral interpretation; as well as
technical internships.(16)

In 1988-89, a new teaching theatre conplex, called the Gaddy
Goodwin Teaching Theatre, was constructed at the north end of the
original building.

The Rose Garden was devel oped from the sunken garden area in 1948
with an original planting of 3,000 bushes.(17)
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